# Polyketide Synthase-Nonribosomal Peptide Synthetase Hybrid **Enzymes of Fungi**

Shinji Kishimoto<sup>1</sup>, Yuichiro Hirayama<sup>1</sup>, Kenji Watanabe<sup>1</sup>

### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	367
II.	Engineering of Fungi for Making Them	
	Amenable to Molecular Genetics	
	Manipulations	368
	A. Chaetomium globosum	368
	B. Aspergillus fumigatus	369
	C. Aspergillus niger	370
	D. Aspergillus nidulans and Aspergillus	
	oryzae	372
III.	Chemical Structures of PK-NRP Hybrid	
	Natural Products	372
	A. Natural Product Biosynthesis Involving	
	Enzymes Catalyzing Diels-Alder	
	Reactions	372
	B. Chaetoglobosins	373
	C. Sch 210972	373
	D. Equisetin	376
	E. Pyrrolocins	377
IV.	Conclusions	380
	References	380

# I. Introduction

People have been long attracted to the bioactivity of natural products that are found in various organisms in nature. Usefulness of such compounds often surpasses that of the chemicals that can be artificially synthesized de novo in the laboratory. Thus, it is important for us to continue discovering new bioactive natural products in the present age for our academic, clinical, and industrial interests. However, discovery of new compounds, especially those with new bioactivities, has become progressively difficult, because natural products that can be obtained easily from the huge number of organisms examined to date have been isolated exhaustively. Recently, development of cheaper and faster sequencing technologies has accelerated dramatically the process of uncovering genomic information of many microbes. Results from genome sequencing studies revealed that there were many more biosynthetic gene clusters that are potentially capable of producing natural products in the genome of a single microorganism than the number of compounds that can be isolated from that microorganism (Brakhage and Schroeckh 2011). This tendency is particularly pronounced in streptomycetes and fungi, two families of microorganisms that are known to produce a wide array of natural products. This finding suggested that many of the biosynthetic genes encoded in the genome of a microbe are not activated to produce natural products under the conventional culture conditions used in the laboratory. More recent studies have indicated that epigenetic control of gene expression in those microorganisms is partly responsible for the lack of activation of silent natural product biosynthetic gene clusters (Bok et al. 2009). What this finding implicates is that our past effort of screening microorganisms for useful compounds may have missed identifying microbes that are capable of producing compounds that exhibit unique or potent bioactivities. However, this also poses an opportunity to discover natural products having unprecedented structural framework or high bioactivities from already known microorganisms, if we could control the expression of natural product biosynthetic genes in those organisms. More-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Shizuoka, Shizuoka, Japan; e-mail: kenji55@u-shizuoka-ken.ac. jp

Physiology and Genetics, 2nd Edition The Mycota XV

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

over, once biosynthetic gene clusters are identified in various organisms, such gene clusters can be transferred from the original microbes to other more conventional microorganisms that are amenable to genetic modifications and readily grow under a laboratory setup. Once the genes can be transferred to a convenient heterologous host, it becomes feasible to examine and engineer the biosynthetic pathways for the production of those novel natural products and their analogs. Such heterologous biosynthetic systems would also allow production of those compounds at a large scale for commercial distribution. Here, we review the construction of model fungi Chaetomium globosum, Aspergillus fumigatus, Aspergillus niger, Aspergillus nidulans, and Aspergillus oryzae that can serve as platform organisms having high versatility to allow production of new natural products and their analogs. Those organisms can also serve as a very powerful tool for identifying biosynthetic intermediates or examining the activity of specific enzymes for elucidating the detailed mechanisms of how complex natural products are biosynthesized.

# II. Engineering of Fungi for Making Them Amenable to Molecular Genetics Manipulations

### A. Chaetomium globosum

To date, many biosynthetic gene clusters have been found in various different organisms through recent genome and metagenome sequencing efforts, and this is especially true for fungi (Primm and Franzblau 2007). Those clusters carry genes encoding enzymes responsible for the production of the backbone structure of secondary metabolites, such as polyketides (PKs), nonribosomal peptides (NRPs), and mixed PK-NRPs. Those clusters also contain genes for multiple auxiliary enzymes that are responsible for the modification of the backbone structure. However, many fungi are often difficult to culture at a large scale (Ezaki et al. 2008). Furthermore, despite the existence of an upward of 40 biosynthetic gene clusters in a fungus, oftentimes only a few compounds can be isolated from a fungal culture that is grown under typical growth conditions (Brakhage and Schroeckh 2011). This is exactly the case for C. globosum, where the genome sequencing shows the presence of approximately 33 polyketide biosynthetic genes despite the fact that only 11 polyketide products can be isolated from the culture grown under typical growth conditions (Tsunematsu et al. 2012). One way of forcing the fungus to turn on a silent biosynthetic gene cluster is to artificially activate the expression of a transcription factor gene present within the target gene cluster. For example, analysis of the C. globosum genome sequence identified a gene cluster named cgs containing seven genes, including a PK synthase (PKS) gene cgsA and a GAL4-like transcription factor gene *cgsG*. Upon introduction of a copy of cgsG under the control of a constitutively active actin promoter, the cgs gene cluster was activated. This resulted in the identification that the cluster was responsible for the biosynthesis of a small aromatic compound called shanorellin (Tsunematsu et al. 2012).

While the kind of "brute force" method of activating a silent gene cluster described above can be successful, a more direct modification of the genome, such as gene knockout or substitution, would allow more efficient analyses of the functions of unknown biosynthetic gene clusters and the genes found within those clusters. Such genome modifications can be effectively performed by homologous recombination between the exogenous DNA and a specific locus within the genome of the target organism. However, many fungi, including C. globosum, carry out high level of nonhomologous random recombination with foreign DNA molecules, making site-specific genome modifications practically impossible (Ishibashi et al. 2006). Therefore, to engineer the wild-type C. globosum into a homologous recombination-compatible strain, the CgligD gene, a homolog of a Lig4-type DNA ligase responsible for the nonhomologous random recombination found in C. globosum, was deleted from the genome (Nakazawa et al. 2013). This  $\triangle CgligD$  strain, which was designated as CGKW10 (Fig. 1), was shown to be able to perform targeted



**Fig. 1** Strategy for deleting the orotidine-5'-phosphate decarboxylase gene *CgpyrG* by inserting a carboxin resistance gene  $(cbx^R)$  in the  $\Delta CgligD$  *C. globosum* strain CGKW10 for developing a high-efficiency genetargeting system. The carboxin resistance gene was integrated into the *CgpyrG* locus in CGKW10 to generate the *CgpyrG*-mutated strain of *Chaetomium globo*-

homologous recombination efficiently. Furthermore, a convenient positive and negative selection system, equivalent of the URA3 gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae (Boeke et al. 1984), that is based on nutritional (uridine) requirement and metabolite toxicity (5-fluoroorotic acid), respectively, was also established by deleting CgpyrG (Weidner et al. 1998), an orotidine-5'-phosphate decarboxylase gene, from the genome of CGKW10. The resulting  $\Delta CgligD / \Delta CgpyrG$  strain named CGKW12 (Fig. 1) made it possible to prepare various gene knockout strains, which accelerated dramatically the investigation into natural product biosynthesis by C. globosum. Later, the hygromycin resistance gene hph used to disrupt CgligD in CGKW10 and CGKW12 was eliminated to yield another  $\Delta CgligD / \Delta CgpyrG$  strain, CGKW14. Using CGKW14, knockout of several transcriptional regulator genes associated with epigenetic silencing of secondary metabolite biosynthetic pathways was performed successfully. Those knockout mutants were shown to produce a total of 11 compounds from C. globosum grown on a simple oatmeal agar medium, including 2 compounds mollipilin A and B that had not been isolated from C. globosum previously (Nakazawa et al. 2013). Those results confirmed the usefulness of CGKW14 for studying natural product biosynthesis in C. globosum. CGKW14 was also used extensively for deciphering the mechanism of biosynthesis

sum, CGKW12. Southern blotting analyses were performed on the ApaI-digested genomic DNA from the desired transformant CGKW12 and the parent strain CGKW10 using probes designed to anneal to regions indicated by blue bars. Lane 1, CgpyrG::cbxR/ CgligD::hph (CGKW12); Lane 2, CgligD::hph (CGKW10) as a control

of natural products, including PK-NRP hybrid compounds chaetoglobosin A and Sch 210972. Details of those studies are discussed in detail below.

### **B.** Aspergillus fumigatus

It is well known that A. *fumigatus* is capable of biosynthesizing PKs, NRPs, and PK-NRP hybrid compounds, such as fumagillin (Lin et al. 2013, 2014), spirotryprostatin B (Tsunematsu et al. 2013), and pseurotin A (Tsunematsu et al. 2014; Wiemann et al. 2013; Zou et al. 2014) (Fig. 2). However, it is frequently difficult to resolve the biosynthetic pathway that employs multiple enzymes to generate various intermediates for the formation of a family of complex final products. For deciphering a complex biosynthetic pathway, preparation of knockout strains lacking each of the genes in the target biosynthetic gene cluster is indispensable. By identifying missing intermediates in the knockout mutants and performing biochemical assays with the enzyme coded by the deleted gene, details of the biosynthetic pathway can be elucidated.

As discussed earlier, the ability to perform targeted homologous recombination is crucial for performing gene knockout, where a specific gene can be inactivated in the genome of the target producer organism. However, as is the



Fig. 2 Chemical structures of natural products isolated from A. fumigatus



Fig. 3 A schematic diagram showing the construction of a disruption cassette-containing plasmid using the yeast-based homologous recombination method

(Kubodera et al. 2002) for preparation of a mutant of AfKW1 in which the target gene is deleted

case with C. globosum, A. fumigatus also possesses a native random DNA recombination activity. To suppress non-specific DNA integration and improve the efficiency of targeted gene disruption significantly in A. fumigatus, it was necessary to eliminate ku70 gene, which codes for a protein involved in the nonhomologous end-joining pathway (Ninomiya et al. 2004). Therefore, the ku70-deficient A. fumigatus strain A1159 (Krappmann et al. 2006) was chosen as a parent strain for detailed investigations of secondary metabolite biosynthesis in this fungus. However, two additional techniques needed to be applied to make this strain more useful for the study. Firstly, like in C. globosum, the orotidine-5'-phosphate decarboxylase gene pyrG was deleted in A. fumigatus A1159 to generate a  $\Delta pyrG/\Delta ku70$  strain, which was named AfKW1 (Weidner et al. 1998; Tsunematsu et al. 2014). This strain allowed the same negative/positive selection described earlier for C. globosum to be applied to A. fumigatus. In addition, to facilitate the selection of desired deletion mutants, a pyrithiamine resistance gene ptrA (Kubodera et al. 2002) was also used as a selection marker in the gene disruption cassette (Fig. 3). The use of AfKW1 and ptrA selection system facilitated our identification of biosynthetic genes and investigation of the detailed mechanisms of the biosynthesis of the pseurotin-type complex natural products (Tsunematsu et al. 2014).

### C. Aspergillus niger

A. niger, like other fungi discussed here, is known to produce a number of natural products. One such class of compounds is pyranonigrins, which is a group of antioxidative natural products that has a characteristic fused  $\gamma$ -pyrone core (Hiort et al. 2004; Schlingmann et al. 2007). The backbone structure of pyranonigrins is biosynthesized by PynA, a megaenzyme that is a hybrid of a PKS and an NRP synthetase (NRPS). Previously, Abe et al. attempted activation of the pyranonigrin biosynthetic gene cluster by expressing the pathway-specific transcriptional regulator pynR under the control of an aga (arginase) promoter from a plasmid in A. niger ATCC 1015 (Awakawa et al. 2013). This study is another example of a study, where activation of a silent or a poorly expressed biosynthetic gene cluster is accomplished by inducing the expression of a pathway-specific transcription factor. However,



Fig. 4 A proposed pathway for the biosynthesis of pyranonigrin F 2. *TE* thioesterase, *N-MT N*-methyltransferase, *FMO* flavin-containing monooxygenase

it resulted in only a modest induction of the production of pyranonigrin E 1 (Fig. 4). To effect a greater activation of the *pyn* gene cluster, Watanabe et al. took advantage of the *kusA*- and *pyrG*-deficient *A. niger* A1179 strain that allowed efficient targeted chromosome modification (Meyer et al. 2007). Just like CGKW14 and AfKW1 described earlier, *A. niger* was modified to be suppressed in the random integration of DNA into its chromosome and efficient in performing targeted homologous recombination by knocking out *kusA*, an ortholog of the *ku70* described above. In addition, transformant selection was made more reliable by the use of the *pyrG*-based selection system.

This *kusA*- and *pyrG*-deficient *A. niger* strain was used in deciphering the mechanism of biosynthesis of spirotryprostatins (Tsunematsu et al. 2013). Furthermore, the original promoter for *pynR* was replaced with a strong *glaA* promoter (Ganzlin and Rinas 2008) in *A. niger* A1179 to generate AnKW2 (Yamamoto et al. 2015). AnKW2 was able to produce 1 at a yield of 1 g/L. In addition, AnKW2 was able to produce a new compound, which was named pyranonigrin F 2. This compound had an unusual spiral cyclobutane core structure, which was predicted to be formed through dimerization of 1 (Fig. 4). This high-level activation of the gene cluster, combined with specific gene deletion via site-specific homologous recombination, provided an opportunity to conduct a detailed study of the biosynthesis of pyranonigrins. Through the study, the complete mechanism of how pyranonigrins are produced was revealed successfully. For instance, the  $\gamma$ -pyrone core formation, which was previously proposed to take place spontaneously, was shown to be catalyzed by the flavin-containing monooxygenase PynG and the cytochrome P450 PynD, highlighting the importance of the ability to induce sufficient transcription of necessary biosynthetic genes and to perform deletion of specific genes in the fungus being studied when attempting to unravel the mechanism of the biosynthesis of complex natural products in detail (Yamamoto et al. 2015).

#### D. Aspergillus nidulans and Aspergillus oryzae

As illustrated earlier, the ability to generate knockout strains is vital to conducting studies on natural product biosynthesis in fungi. Another way to exploit the potential of fungi and their genomic information for drug discovery and development is to establish a heterologous production system using a convenient host organism capable of expressing the exogenous biosynthetic genes and producing the corresponding compounds. Typical host organisms used in this type of efforts are Escherichia coli and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. However, reconstitution of a fungal secondary metabolite biosynthetic pathway in those hosts, especially in E. coli, often encounters difficulty in producing fungal proteins in their active forms, leading to lack of formation of desired products. Naturally, expression of fungal genes is handled more reliably by fungi. In particular, fungi are more competent in producing massive enzymes like PKSs, NRPSs, and their hybrid enzymes, as well as redox enzymes like cytochrome P450s and flavin-containing monooxygenases. These properties make fungal model hosts particularly suitable for heterologous reconstitution of natural product biosynthetic pathways of interest. Heterologous reconstitution of a biosynthetic pathway is a very effective way of deciphering how a natural product is formed. Reconstitution allows extraction of the target pathway from the background of complex metabolic pathways and easy modification of the pathway, making it easier to identify and characterize each step of the biosynthesis of the target compound. For such studies, engineered *A. nidulans* (Chiang et al. 2013) and *A. oryzae* (Pahirulzaman et al. 2012) are frequently used. Among other examples, those heterologous host systems are successfully used for studying the biosynthesis of Sch 210972 (Sato et al. 2015) and cytochalasin (Fujii et al. 2013; Song et al. 2015) as discussed below in depth.

### III. Chemical Structures of PK-NRP Hybrid Natural Products

### A. Natural Product Biosynthesis Involving Enzymes Catalyzing Diels-Alder Reactions

Despite the fact that Diels-Alder (DA) reaction is one of the most important transformations employed in chemical synthesis (Corey 2002), biogenic and biocatalytic DA reactions are still recognized poorly. However, since proteins (Xu et al. 2004; Preiswerk et al. 2014) and nucleic acids (Jäschke and Seelig 2000) have been engineered to catalyze DA reactions, biomolecules are expected to be competent catalysts for this type of cycloaddition reaction. While DA reaction has been implicated as a key transformation during the biosynthesis of a growing number of natural products (Oikawa 2010), the identification of enzymes, Diels-Alderases (DAases), for the cycloaddition has proven challenging. Thus far, only a handful of enzymes has been identified as DAases. Many of the DAases are found in fungi, including lovastatin nonaketide synthase LovB (Auclair et al. 2000) and solanapyrone synthase (Kasahara et al. 2010). However, only the bacterial DAases, SpnF involved in the biosynthesis of spinosyn A (Kim et al. 2011) and VstJ responsible for the formation of the spirotetronate framework of versipelostatin (Hashimoto et al. 2015), have the specific rate for accelerating the



Fig. 5 Chemical structures of the representative members of the cytochalasan family of natural products

[4 + 2] cycloaddition reaction determined experimentally. Nevertheless, the limited understanding of enzymatic DA reactions and the potential synthetic utility of DAases warrant further studies for establishing the existence and catalytic modes of natural DAases. Below, we will discuss fungal PK-NRP hybrid compounds whose biosynthetic process is considered to employ a DA reaction.

#### **B.** Chaetoglobosins

Fungal natural products often exhibit biological activities of medicinal importance. Among them is chaetoglobosin A 3 (Fig. 5), which has a unique inhibitory activity against actin polymerization in mammalian cells (Löw et al. 1979; Scherlach et al. 2010). The first discovery of the gene cluster responsible for the biosynthesis of 3 in Penicillium expansum was accomplished using an siRNA technology (Schümann and Hertweck 2007). Based on this study, the core structure of 3 was predicted to be formed by a PKS-NRPS hybrid enzyme [CheA in P. expansum and CHGG\_01239 in C. globosum (Ishiuchi et al. 2013) and a stand-alone enoyl reductase (ER) (CheB in P. expansition and CHGG\_01240 in C. globosum) found within the gene cluster. This stand-alone ER is proposed to work in trans with the PKS-NRPS for reduction of olefins in the polyketide backbone. It is commonly found in gene clusters responsible for the biosynthesis of similar fungal metabolites and has been shown to be essential for the formation of the final products (Boettger and Hertweck 2013; Ma et al. 2009; Qiao et al. 2011). How the straight PK-NRP chain off-loaded from the PKS-NRPS remains poorly established for the biosynthesis of 3. However, for a related com-

pound cytochalasin E 4 from A. clavatus, the Cterminal reductase (R) domain of the PKS-NRPS was considered to perform a reductive release of the PK-NRP intermediate as an aldehyde. Then, the aldehyde is thought to undergo a cyclization to form a 2-pyrrolidinone moiety via a Knoevenagel condensation (Qiao et al. 2011; Fujii et al. 2013). The same mechanism is thought to apply for the biosynthesis of 3. Once the 2-pyrrolidinone moiety is formed, it is thought to act as a dienophile for the DA reaction that achieves cyclization of the released intermediate to form prochaetoglobosin I 5 (Ishiuchi et al. 2013). However, the detailed reaction mechanism involving the 2-pyrrolidinone formation and the DA reaction is yet to be uncovered. Further investigation is currently ongoing in our laboratory to reveal the mechanism of chaetoglobosin biosynthesis by using the genetically modified C. globosum strain CGKW14 described above.

### C. Sch 210972

Sch 210972 **6** is another PK–NRP compound produced by *C. globosum* whose biosynthetic process is thought to involve a DA reaction (Fig. 6). This compound is characterized by a tetramic acid moiety, which is also found in a number of similar natural products, such as equisetin 7 (Fig. 6). In those compounds, the tetramic acid moiety is attached to a decalin core. This bicyclic core structure is also found in other fungal secondary metabolites, such as lovastatin **8**, and it is proposed to be formed via a DA reaction (Ma et al. 2009; Kakule et al. 2013; Sato et al. 2015). To be able to examine the biosynthesis of **6** in detail, the corresponding biosynthetic genes were pursued. A BLASTP



Fig. 6 Natural products with a decalin core whose biosynthesis is proposed to proceed via a Diels-Alder reaction

(Johnson et al. 2008) search of the genome of *C*. globosum identified three recognizable hybrid PKS-NRPS genes: CHGG\_01239, CHGG\_05286, and CHGG\_02374-CHGG\_02378. Inspection of CHGG 02374 the sequence of through CHGG\_02378 suggested that the five annotated open reading frames (ORFs) were actually a single ORF coding for a hybrid PKS-NRPS. As discussed above, CHGG\_01239 codes for the PKS-NRPS responsible for the formation of 3 (Ishiuchi et al. 2013). In addition, deletion of CHGG\_05286 did not affect the production of 6. Therefore, the reassigned ORF CHGG\_02374-CHGG\_02378, which was named *cghG*, was predicted and later confirmed by homologous recombination-mediated targeted gene disruption to code for the PKS–NRPS responsible for the biosynthesis of 6. Functionally very similar PKS-NRPSs, CheA (Schümann and Hertweck 2007)/CHGG 01239 (Ishiuchi et al. 2013), CcsA (Qiao et al. 2011), and EqxS (Kakule et al. 2013, 2015), are also found in the biosynthetic gene clusters responsible for the production of 3, 4, and 7, respectively (Fig. 7). As mentioned earlier, this class of PKS-NRPSs is often accompanied by a stand-alone ER, and they are CghC (CHGG\_02368), CheB/ CHGG\_01240, CcsC, and EqxC for the biosynthesis of 6, 3, 4, and 7, respectively. Disruption of this ER abolishes the assembly of the PK-NRP intermediate, such as 5, by the PKS–NRPS (Sato et al. 2015). For 3, 4, and 7, the extender unit for the NRPS portion of the hybrid enzyme is a natural amino acid; it is L-tryptophan, Lphenylalanine, and L-serine for 3, 4, and 7, respectively. For 6, however, it was predicted to be an unusual amino acid, (2S,4S)-4hydroxy-4-methylglutamic acid. Knockout strains prepared with the use of the engineered strain CGKW14 allowed determination of the

function of CghB, a predicted aldolase, as the enzyme responsible for the production of (2S,4S)-4-hydroxy-4-methylglutamic acid through dimerization of two molecules of pyruvic acid (Fig. 8). As in the case of chaetoglobosin biosynthesis, the amino acid portion of the PK–NRP intermediate for 6 undergoes a cyclization upon release from the PKS–NRPS, although a tetramic acid moiety, not a 2-pyrrolidinone moiety, is formed. Unlike for the biosynthesis of 3, the heterocyclic moiety is not predicted to be involved in the intramolecular DA reaction for the formation of the decalin core of 6 (Fig. 9).

During the examination of the involvement of DA reaction in the biosynthesis of the natural products discussed here, it became apparent that the biosynthetic gene cluster for 3, 4, 6, and 7 all contained a gene that coded for a small protein of unknown function. One such gene CHGG\_01241 (CheC in P. expansum) found in the gene cluster responsible for the biosynthesis of 3 was knocked out in CGKW14 to investigate its role in the biosynthesis of 3. However, deletion of CHGG\_01241 completely abolished the formation of 3 despite the high titer of 100 mg or more of 3 per liter of culture attained with the wild-type strain. The straight chain form of 5, i.e., the intermediate before undergoing an intramolecular DA reaction, could not be observed, either (Ishiuchi et al. 2013). Thus, insight into the role of DA reaction during the biosynthesis of 3 could not be obtained from this study. Likewise, the role of the proteins coded in other clusters, CcsF for 4, which was suggested to play a role in the formation of the isoindolone core via a DA reaction (Qiao et al. 2011), and Eqx3 for the formation of the decalin core of 7 (Kakule et al. 2013, 2015) have not been investigated in



Fig. 7 The gene clusters proposed to contain a gene coding for a Diels-Alderase. The overall organization of (a) the *cgh* gene cluster for the biosynthesis of Sch 210972 6 from *Chaetomium globosum*; (b) the CHGG gene cluster for the biosynthesis of chaetoglobosin A 3 from *C. globosum*; (c) the *ccs* gene cluster for the bio-

synthesis of cytochalasin E 4 from Aspergillus clavatus; and (d) the eqx gene cluster for the biosynthesis of equisetin 7 from Fusarium heterosporum. Predicted Diels-Alderase gene is colored in yellow, while the PKS-NRPS and its associated stand-alone ER genes are shown in red and green, respectively



Fig. 8 Formation of an unusual amino acid, (2S,4S)-4-hydroxy-4-methylglutamic acid, via dimerization of two molecules of pyruvic acid catalyzed by an aldolase CghB

details. However, a very interesting result was obtained during the examination of the biosynthetic gene cluster for 6. When cghA, the proposed DAase-coding gene, was knocked out in CGKW14 (Fig. 9), the deletion strain produced the original endo adduct 6 and its diastereomeric exo adduct 9, both being expected products of the proposed DA reaction, albeit at a much lower overall yield (2 mg/L of 6 and 1 mg/ L of 9) than in the wild-type strain (60 mg/L of 6only). The stereochemistry of the products was determined by NMR spectroscopy for both compounds and X-ray crystallography for 9. In addition, reconstitution of the biosynthetic pathway for 6 in an engineered A. nidulans strain confirmed that four genes, cghG (PKS-

NRPS), cghC (ER), cghA (speculative DAases), and *cghB* ((2S,4S)-4-hydroxy-4-methylglutamic acid-forming aldolase), were sufficient for the formation of **6**, with *cghA* being required for the strict stereocontrol over the product formation (Sato et al. 2015). Without CghA in the reaction, the decalin-forming [4 + 2] cycloaddition reaction proceeds in a non-stereoselective manner, suggesting that CghA is a DAase responsible for controlling the stereoselectivity of the intramolecular DA cycloaddition of the PK-NRP straight chain intermediate. Furthermore, processing of the straight chain intermediate by CghG appears to be diminished significantly in the absence of CghA, presumably because CghA-catalyzed decalin formation in the inter-



Fig. 9 Proposed biosynthetic pathway of 6. CghG-catalyzed synthesis of a linear intermediate and subsequent cyclization for the formation of a tetramic acid moiety are shown. Two diastereomeric products Sch 210972 6 and 9 can be formed via a Diels-Alder reaction in this pathway, depending on the presence of

mediate that is covalently bound to the thiolation (T) domain of CghG is required for subsequent processing for an efficient release from the PKS–NRPS. The release of the intermediate from the PKS–NRPS is thought to be catalyzed by the C-terminal R domain of the PKS–NRPS through a Dieckmann-type condensation that forms the tetramic acid moiety in the final product. This aspect of the biosynthesis of **6** and related compounds is discussed in greater depth below. Again, the engineered *C. globosum* strain CGKW14 is being used effectively for a further investigation of the biosynthetic mechanism of **6**.

### **D.** Equisetin

Equisetin 7, which is already mentioned in the previous section, is a PK-NRP compound produced by various *Fusarium* fungi, including *Fusarium equiseti* (Burmeister et al. 1974),

the proposed Diels-Alderase, CghA. KS ketosynthase, MAT malonyl-CoA acyltransferase, DH dehydratase, MT methyltransferase, KR ketoreductase, ACP acyl carrier protein, C condensation, A adenylation, T thiolation, R reductase, ER enoyl reductase, SAM S-adenosyl-L-methionine



Fig. 10 Chemical structure of cyclopiazonic acid 10

*Fusarium heterosporum* (Sims et al. 2005), and *F.* sp. FN080326 (Kato et al. 2015), that is highly similar to **6** in its structure (Fig. 6). Another compound, cyclopiazonic acid **10** (Fig. 10), isolated from various *Aspergillus* and *Penicillium* fungi (Liu and Walsh 2009), is also related to **6** and **7** in that it has a tetramic acid moiety in its structure. However, **10** is comprised of a tryptophan-containing PK– NRP core with a prenyl side chain that undergoes multiple cyclization reactions to form a fused pentacyclic framework. All of the PKS–



Fig. 11 Proposed biosynthetic pathway of 7

NRPS responsible for the biosynthesis of 3, 4, 6, and 7 contain a C-terminal R domain. As described for the biosynthesis of 3 and 4, the R domain can perform a reductive cleavage of the PK-NRP intermediate from the T domain to release the product as an aldehyde. However, the R domain found in EqxS responsible for the biosynthesis of 7 was shown not to bind NAD(P)H or perform a reduction to form an aldehyde but to form a tetramic acid via a Dieckmann-type condensation (Fig. 11) (Sims and Schmidt 2008; Scherlach et al. 2010). The same transformation was proposed to be involved in the biosynthesis of a fungal PK-NRP product tenellin (Halo et al. 2008) and 6 (Sato et al. 2015). A possible explanation of why certain R domains perform a reductive cleavage of a thioester linkage while other R domains perform a Dieckmann-type condensation for concomitant tetramic acid formation and product release is discussed below. As to the involvement of a DA reaction in the biosynthesis of 7, an investigation into the function of the uncharacterized protein Fsa2 [Eqx3 in *F. heterosporum* (Kakule et al. 2015)], a homolog of CghA, through deletion of *fsa2* in Fusarium sp. FN080326 identified it to be a likely DAase (Kato et al. 2015).

### E. Pyrrolocins

Pyrrolocin C 13 and its diastereomer pyrrolocin B 12, along with an N-methylated analog of 13 pyrrolocin A 11 (Jadulco et al. 2014), comprise a group of antituberculosis agents that is structurally related to 6 and 7 (Fig. 12). Pyrrolocins are produced by a strain of endophytic fungus designated as NRRL 50135 that was identified as a phylogenetically new strain. This strain mainly produced 11, while only a negligible amount of the desmethylated compounds 12 and 13 were isolated. During the isolation and characterization of this series of compounds, NRRL 50135 stopped producing 11 under the standard culture conditions examined. To salvage the production of 11 for examining its chemical structure and bioactivity, the biosynthetic locus for the formation of 11 was isolated from NRRL 50135 and transferred to a filamentous fungus F. heterosporum ATCC 74349, which was known to produce 7 at a very high titer (Kakule et al. 2015), for heterologous production of 11. For the production of 11, an engineered F. heterosporum ATCC 74349 strain was used. In this modified strain, the equisetin biosynthetic gene cluster was knocked out, and the expression of the equisetin biosynthetic



Fig. 12 Chemical structures of pyrrolocin A 11, B 12, and C 13

gene regulator gene *eqxR* was placed under the control of an inducible A. nidulans alcA promoter. Furthermore, like CGKW14 and AfKW1 described earlier, the pyrG gene was also knocked out for auxotrophic selection (Kakule et al. 2013). Two biosynthetic genes, prlS (PKS-NRPS) and *prlC* (ER), were successfully cloned from the genome of NRRL 50135. However, the third gene coding for a methyltransferase (MT) presumably necessary for the N-methylation to form 11 could not be located in the vicinity of the *prl* gene cluster. Thus, *prlS* and *prlC* were cloned into a plasmid and placed under the control of *PeqxS*, the promoter for the equisetin PKS-NRPS gene eqxS. In place of the missing prl MT gene, the gene coding for the equisetin MT eqxD was provided in the engineered F. heterosporum ATCC 74349 strain. This heterologous system only produced less than 10 mg of 11 per kilogram of culture medium. However, it produced roughly 800 mg/kg of 12 and 13 in an approximately 2-to-1 ratio (Kakule et al. 2013, 2015). Loss of production of 11, the only Nmethylated member of pyrrolocins, is likely due to lack of correct MT in the system. The compound 12 contains a cis-decalin, which is a more favored endo adduct of a DA cycloaddition, whereas 13 has a trans-decalin formed through a less favored exo transition state. Thus the higher yield of 12 over 13 is consistent with the notion that the decalin formation during the pyrrolocin biosynthesis occurs through an intramolecular DA reaction. When only the PKS-NRPS and the stand-alone ER but not the presumed DAase like CghA for the biosynthesis of Sch 210972 are provided to the heterologous host, the system produces more of the chemically more favored endo product, 12. In con-

trast, 12 is not produced in the original producer where the presumed DAase would be present. The fact that products are formed efficiently by the pyrrolocin-forming enzymes in the absence of a DAase suggests that the biosynthetic mechanism, especially the mechanism involving the decalin formation, might be somewhat different between pyrrolocins and other related compounds like 6. For the biosynthesis of 6, knockout of the presumed DAase-coding gene *cghA* abolishes the production of any products (Sato et al. 2015). It is possible that the C-terminal R domain of the PKS–NRPS, which is responsible for the chain release and tetramic acid formation, requires the decalin to be present in the substrate. Whether products are formed efficiently by a DAase gene-knockout strain may depend on the relative efficiency of the spontaneous decalin core formation.

Oftentimes, identification of different intermediates formed during the biosynthesis of a target natural product provides valuable insight for deciphering how the final product is biosynthesized. Unfortunately, the straight chain PK-NRP intermediate has not been isolated from the biosynthetic systems responsible for the production of 6, 7, or 11 to date. Interestingly, however, isolation of a possible intermediate was reported for the cytochalasin biosynthetic system by Oikawa et al. (1995) (Fig. 13a). For cytochalasin biosynthesis, the straight chain intermediate is thought to be off-loaded from the PKS-NRPS by the C-terminal R domain as an aldehyde. The isolated compound was not an aldehyde 14 but a primary alcohol 15 (Fig. 13b) (Fujii et al. 2013). For this study, the auxotrophic A. oryzae strain



isolated compound 15

Fig. 13 Proposed biosynthetic pathway of cytochalasins. (a) Speculative functions of CcsF, catalyzing a Knoevenagel condensation on a straight-chain aldehyde intermediate 14 to form a 2-pyrrolidinone moiety

NSAR1 (*niaD*<sup>-</sup>, *sC*<sup>-</sup>,  $\Delta$ *argB*, *adeA*<sup>-</sup>) (Jin et al. 2004) was used as the heterologous host for the plasmid-based expression of the PKS-NRPS gene ccsA and the stand-alone ER gene ccsC without including the gene for the presumed DAase ccsF. Isolation of 15 from this heterologous system is a good indication that the Cterminal R domain of CcsA actually catalyzes off-loading of the PK-NRP intermediate via a reduction of the thioester linkage between CcsA and the bound intermediate. It is not clear whether the R domain is actually catalyzing only a two-electron reduction only to form an aldehyde or a four-electron reduction (Li et al. 2008; Song et al. 2015) to form the primary alcohol found in 15. Nonetheless, this observation suggests that the pyrrolinone moiety of 4 is formed through a Knoevenagel condensation, not through a Dieckmann-type cyclization as proposed for 6, 7, and 11. This observation is consistent with the amino acid sequence of the CcsA R domain having an intact NAD(P)Hbinding motif GXSXXG and the Ser-Tyr-Lys catalytic triad conserved among the shortchain dehydrogenase/reductase family of proteins (Liu and Walsh 2009; Qiao et al. 2011). The reason the R domain of the PKS-NRPS for the biosynthesis of 4 performs a reductive cleavage of the thioester linkage while the R domain for the biosynthesis of 6, 7, and 11

and a Diels–Alder reaction to form a decalin core. (b) Isolated alcohol 15 as a shunt product produced by an unexpected reduction in *A. niger* 

catalyzes a Dieckmann-type condensation for concomitant tetramic acid formation may have to do with the subsequent transformation required for the biosynthesis of the final product. For the formation of 4, 3-pyrrolin-2-one is thought to act as a dienophile for the DA reaction that forms the six-membered ring in the core structure. A Dieckmann-type condensation would result in the formation of a pyrrolidine-2,4-dione, which would have to undergo additional reduction and dehydration of the 4carbonyl to be converted into 3-pyrrolin-2-one. However, a Knoevenagel condensation of the aldehyde intermediate would lead to direct formation of 3-pyrrolin-2-one. Thus, it makes sense for the R domain of the chaetoglobosinand the cytochalasin-forming PKS-NRPSs to possess a reductase activity. On the other hand, the tetramic moiety of 6, 7, and 11 does not participate in a DA reaction. Thus, the R domains of the PKS-NRPSs that form those compounds could gain a Dieckmann-type condensation activity. Based on this idea, the R domain of CHGG\_01239 for the biosynthesis of 3 is predicted to catalyze a reduction, not a Dieckmann-type cyclization. The engineered *C*. globosum strain CGKW14 combined with in vitro biochemical assays can be used to characterize the activity of the CHGG\_01239 R domain.

# **IV. Conclusions**

In this review, we mainly summarized the findings from recent studies that focused on engineering of important fungi, primarily C. globosum, A. fumigatus, A. niger, A. nidulans, and A. oryzae. Creation of those engineered fungal strains has enabled many of the studies described in this review. The engineering typically focuses on eliminating the fungi's native ability to randomly recombine exogenous DNA into their genome. Abolishing the random recombination activity in those fungi leaves the site-specific homologous recombination activity intact, allowing targeted modifications of the genome. Another modification focuses on establishing selection schemes that improve the efficiency of isolating correctly manipulated strains. Those engineered strains make knockout and other genome editing experiments, such as promoter exchange studies, reliable. Those strains also make heterologous reconstitution of biosynthetic pathways of interest straightforward and efficient. Those experiments allow isolation and characterization of biosynthetic pathway intermediates that provide critical insight into what genes are involved in the formation of certain natural products and how such complex natural products are biosynthesized.

Among the interesting chemical transformations found in fungal secondary metabolite biosynthesis, we focused on the biosynthetic steps that are considered to involve enzymecatalyzed DA reactions. Among them, we paid a particular attention to those proposed for the biosynthesis of chaetoglobosin, Sch 210972, equisetin, and pyrrolocin. There is a shared aspect in the biosynthesis of these compounds, namely, the scaffolding formed by a PKS-NRPS hybrid enzyme with a stand-alone ER, and the cyclization of the linear intermediate by a DA reaction. The DA reaction is thought to be catalyzed by a small protein whose function is unknown due to lack of amino acid sequence homology to other known proteins. Use of engineered fungal strains discussed in the first part of this chapter made it possible to perform targeted gene deletion and heterologous reconstitution of the biosynthetic pathways. Investigation into the biosynthesis of chaetoglobosin, Sch 210972, equisetin, and pyrrolocin with those engineered fungal strains provided strong indication of the involvement of enzyme-catalyzed DA reaction and identification of the uncharacterized proteins as a bona fide DAase. Detailed biochemical analyses and Xray crystallographic characterizations of the DAases are currently ongoing to understand how those proteins catalyze DA reactions. Those studies are combined with theoretical calculations that can model the reaction and compute transition states of the DA reaction leading to the formation of each of the four compounds discussed in this chapter. Experimentally determined structural information of the DAases will be combined with the results from the computational studies using quantum-mechanical calculations to gain thorough insight into the mechanism of enzyme-catalyzed DA reactions. Those efforts will expand our understanding of how nature biosynthesizes complex chemical structures found in various natural products.

Acknowledgments We wish to thank the financial support from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) Program for Advancing Strategic International Networks to Accelerate the Circulation of Talented Researchers (No. G2604) (K.W.). This work was also supported in part by the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) (K.W., 15KT0068, 26560450), the Takeda Science Foundation (K.W.), the Institution of Fermentation at Osaka (K.W.), the Japan Antibiotics Research Association (K.W.), the Uehara Memorial Foundation (K.W.), and the Tokyo Biochemical Research Foundation (K.W.).

### References

- Auclair K, Sutherland A, Kennedy J, Witter DJ, Van den Heever JP, Hutchinson CR, Vederas JC (2000) Lovastatin nonaketide synthase catalyzes an intramolecular Diels–Alder reaction of a substrate analogue. J Am Chem Soc 122:11519–11520
- Awakawa T, Yang XL, Wakimoto T, Abe I (2013) Pyranonigrin E: a PKS-NRPS hybrid metabolite from *Aspergillus niger* identified by genome mining. Chembiochem 14:2095–2099
- Boeke JD, LaCroute F, Fink GR (1984) A positive selection for mutants lacking orotidine-5'-phosphate

decarboxylase activity in yeast: 5-fluoro-orotic acid resistance. Mol Gen Genet 197:345-346

- Boettger D, Hertweck C (2013) Molecular diversity sculpted by fungal PKS-NRPS hybrids. Chembiochem 14:28-42
- Bok JW, Chiang YM, Szewczyk E, Reyes-Dominguez Y, Davidson AD, Sanchez JF, Lo HC, Watanabe K, Strauss J, Oakley BR, Wang CC, Keller NP (2009) Chromatin-level regulation of biosynthetic gene clusters. Nat Chem Biol 5:462–424
- Brakhage AA, Schroeckh V (2011) Fungal secondary metabolites—strategies to activate silent gene clusters. Fungal Genet Biol 48:15-22
- Burmeister HR, Bennett GA, Vesonder RF, Hesseltine CW (1974) Antibiotic produced by *Fusarium equiseti* NRRL 5537. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 5:634–639
- Chiang YM, Oakley CE, Ahuja M, Entwistle R, Schultz A, Chang SL, Sung CT, Wang CC, Oakley BR (2013) An efficient system for heterologous expression of secondary metabolite genes in Aspergillus nidulans. J Am Chem Soc 135:7720– 7731
- Corey EJ (2002) Catalytic enantioselective Diels–Alder reactions: methods, mechanistic fundamentals, pathways, and applications. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 41:1650–1667
- Ezaki M, Muramatsu H, Takase S, Hashimoto M, Nagai K (2008) Naphthalecin, a novel antibiotic produced by the anaerobic bacterium, *Sporotalea colonica* sp. nov. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 61:207–212
- Fujii R, Minami A, Gomi K, Oikawa H (2013) Biosynthetic assembly of cytochalasin backbone. Tetrahedron Lett 54:2999–3002
- Ganzlin M, Rinas U (2008) In-depth analysis of the Aspergillus niger glucoamylase (glaA) promoter performance using high-throughput screening and controlled bioreactor cultivation techniques. J Biotechnol 135:266-271
- Halo LM, Marshall JW, Yakasai AA, Song Z, Butts CP, Crump MP, Heneghan M, Bailey AM, Simpson TJ, Lazarus CM, Cox RJ (2008) Authentic heterologous expression of the tenellin iterative polyketide synthase nonribosomal peptide synthetase requires coexpression with an enoyl reductase. Chembiochem 9:585–594
- Hashimoto T, Hashimoto J, Teruya K, Hirano T, Shinya K, Ikeda H, Liu HW, Nishiyama M, Kuzuyama T (2015) Biosynthesis of versipelostatin: identification of an enzyme-catalyzed [4+2]-cycloaddition required for macrocyclization of spirotetronatecontaining polyketides. J Am Chem Soc 137:572– 575
- Hiort J, Maksimenka K, Reichert M, Perović-Ottstadt S, Lin WH, Wray V, Steube K, Schaumann K, Weber H, Proksch P, Ebel R, Müller WE, Bringmann G (2004) New natural products from the spongederivedfungus Aspergillus niger. J Nat Prod 67:1532–1543

- Ishibashi K, Suzuki K, Ando Y, Takakura C, Inoue H (2006) Nonhomologous chromosomal integration of foreign DNA is completely dependent on MUS-53 (human Lig4 homolog) in *Neurospora*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:14871–14876
- Ishiuchi K, Nakazawa T, Yagishita F, Mino T, Noguchi H, Hotta K, Watanabe K (2013) Combinatorial generation of complexity by redox enzymes in the chaetoglobosin A biosynthesis. J Am Chem Soc 135:7371-7377
- Jadulco RC, Koch M, Kakule TB, Schmidt EW, Orendt A, He H, Janso JE, Carter GT, Larson EC, Pond C, Matainaho TK, Barrows LR (2014) Isolation of pyrrolocins A-C: cis- and trans-decalin tetramic acid antibiotics from an endophytic fungalderived pathway. J Nat Prod 77:2537–2544
- Jäschke A, Seelig B (2000) Evolution of DNA and RNA as catalysts for chemical reactions. Curr Opin Chem Biol 4:257–262
- Jin FH, Maruyama J, Juvvadi PR, Akioka M, Kitamoto K (2004) Development of a novel quadruple auxotrophic host transformation system by *argB* gene disruption using *adeA* gene and exploiting adenine auxotrophy in *Aspergillus oryzae*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 239:79–85
- Johnson M, Zaretskaya I, Raytselis Y, Merezhuk Y, McGinnis S, Madden TL (2008) NCBI BLAST: a better web interface. Nucleic Acids Res 36:W5-W9
- Kakule TB, Sardar D, Lin Z, Schmidt EW (2013) Two related pyrrolidinedione synthetase loci in *Fusarium heterosporum* ATCC 74349 produce divergent metabolites. ACS Chem Biol 8:1549–1557
- Kakule TB, Jadulco RC, Koch M, Janso JE, Barrows LR, Schmidt EW (2015) Native promoter strategy for high-yielding synthesis and engineering of fungal secondary metabolites. ACS Synth Biol 4:625-633
- Kasahara K, Miyamoto T, Fujimoto T, Oguri H, Tokiwano T, Oikawa H, Ebizuka Y, Fujii I (2010) Solanapyrone synthase, a possible Diels-Alderase and iterative type I polyketide synthase encoded in a biosynthetic gene cluster from *Alternaria solani*. Chembiochem 11:1245–1252
- Kato N, Nogawa T, Hirota H, Jang JH, Takahashi S, Ahn JS, Osada H (2015) A new enzyme involved in the control of the stereochemistry in the decalin formation during equisetin biosynthesis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 460:210–215
- Kim HJ, Ruszczycky MW, Choi SH, Liu YN, Liu HW (2011) Enzyme-catalysed [4+2] cycloaddition is a key step in the biosynthesis of spinosyn A. Nature 473:109–112
- Krappmann S, Sasse C, Braus GH (2006) Gene targeting in Aspergillus fumigatus by homologous recombination is facilitated in a nonhomologous end- joining-deficient genetic background. Eukaryot Cell 5:212–215
- Kubodera T, Yamashita N, Nishimura A (2002) Transformation of *Aspergillus* sp. and *Trichoderma reesei* using the pyrithiamine resistance gene (*ptrA*)

of Aspergillus oryzae. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 66:404-406

- Li Y, Weissman KJ, Müller R (2008) Myxochelin biosynthesis: direct evidence for two- and four-electron reduction of a carrier protein-bound thioester. J Am Chem Soc 130:7554–7555
- Lin HC, Chooi YH, Dhingra S, Xu W, Calvo AM, Tang Y (2013) The fumagillin biosynthetic gene cluster in *Aspergillus fumigatus* encodes a cryptic terpene cyclase involved in the formation of β-trans-bergamotene. J Am Chem Soc 135:4616–4619
- Lin H, Tsunematsu Y, Dhingra S, Xu W, Fukutomi M, Chooi YH, Cane DE, Calvo AM, Watanabe K, Tang Y (2014) Generation of complexity in fungal terpene biosynthesis: discovery of a multifunctional cytochrome P450 in the fumagillin pathway. J Am Chem Soc 136:4426–4436
- Liu X, Walsh CT (2009) Cyclopiazonic acid biosynthesis in *Aspergillus* sp.: characterization of a reductase-like R\* domain in cyclopiazonate synthetase that forms and releases cyclo-acetoacetyl-L-tryptophan. Biochemistry 48:8746–8757
- Löw I, Jahn W, Wieland T, Sekita S, Yoshihira K, Natori S (1979) Interaction between rabbit muscle actin and several chaetoglobosins or cytochalasins. Anal Biochem 95:14–18
- Ma SM, Li JWH, Choi JW, Lee KKM, Moorthie VA, Xie X, Kealey JT, Da Silva NA, Vederas JC, Tang Y (2009) Complete reconstitution of a highly reducing iterative polyketide synthase. Science 326:589– 592
- Meyer V, Arentshorst M, El-Ghezal A, Drews AC, Kooistra R, van den Hondel CA, Ram AF (2007) Highly efficient gene targeting in the *Aspergillus niger kusA* mutant. J Biotechnol 128:770–775
- Nakazawa T, Ishiuchi K, Sato M, Tsunematsu Y, Sugimoto S, Gotanda Y, Noguchi H, Hotta K, Watanabe K (2013) Targeted disruption of transcriptional regulators in *Chaetomium globosum* activates biosynthetic pathways and reveals transcriptional regulator-like behavior of aureonitol. J Am Chem Soc 135:13446–13455
- Ninomiya Y, Suzuki K, Ishii C, Inoue H (2004) Highly efficient gene replacements in *Neurospora* strains deficient for nonhomologous end-joining. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:12248–12253
- Oikawa H (2010) Diels-Alderases. In: Liu H-W, Mander L (eds) Comprehensive natural products II, vol 8. Elsevier, Oxford, pp 277–314
- Oikawa H, Katayama K, Suzuki Y, Ichihara A (1995) Enzymatic activity catalyzingexo-selective Diels-Alder reaction in solanapyrone biosynthesis. J Chem Soc Chem Commun 13:1321-1322.
- Pahirulzaman KA, Williams K, Lazarus CM (2012) A toolkit for heterologous expression of metabolic pathways in Aspergillus oryzae. Methods Enzymol 517:241–260
- Preiswerk N, Beck T, Schulz JD, Milovník P, Mayer C, Siegel JB, Baker D, Hilvert D (2014) Impact of scaffold rigidity on the design and evolution of

an artificial Diels-Alderase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:8013–8018

- Primm TP, Franzblau SG (2007) Recent advances in methodologies for the discovery of antimycobacterial drugs. Curr Bioact Compd 3:201–208
- Qiao K, Chooi YH, Tang Y (2011) Identification and engineering of the cytochalasin gene cluster from *Aspergillus clavatus* NRRL 1. Metab Eng 13:723– 732
- Sato M, Yagishita F, Mino T, Uchiyama N, Patel A, Chooi YH, Goda Y, Xu W, Noguchi H, Yamamoto T, Hotta K, Houk KN, Tang Y, Watanabe K (2015) Involvement of lipocalin-like CghA in decalinforming stereoselective intramolecular [4+2] cycloaddition. Chembiochem 16:2294–2298
- Scherlach K, Boettger D, Remme N, Hertweck C (2010) The chemistry and biology of cytochalasans. Nat Prod Rep 27:869–886
- Schlingmann G, Taniguchi T, He H, Bigelis R, Yang HY, Koehn FE, Carter GT, Berova N (2007) Reassessing the structure of pyranonigrin. J Nat Prod 70:1180– 1187
- Schümann J, Hertweck C (2007) Molecular basis of cytochalasan biosynthesis in fungi: gene cluster analysis and evidence for the involvement of a PKS-NRPS hybrid synthase by RNA silencing. J Am Chem Soc 129:9564–9565
- Sims JW, Schmidt EW (2008) Thioesterase-like role for fungal PKS–NRPS hybrid reductive domains. J Am Chem Soc 130:11149–11155
- Sims JW, Fillmore JP, Warner DD, Schmidt EW (2005) Equisetin biosynthesis in *Fusarium heterosporum*. Chem Commun 2:186–188
- Song Z, Bakeer W, Marshall JW, Yakasai AA, Khalid RM, Collemare J, Skellam E, Tharreau D, Lebrun MH, Lazarus CM, Bailey AM, Simpson TJ, Cox RJ (2015) Heterologous expression of the avirulence gene ACE1 from the fungal rice pathogen Magnaporthe oryzae. Chem Sci 6:4837–4845
- Tsunematsu Y, Ichinoseki S, Nakazawa T, Ishikawa N, Noguchi H, Hotta K, Watanabe K (2012) Overexpressing transcriptional regulator in *Chaetomium globosum* activates a silent biosynthetic pathway: evaluation of shanorellin biosynthesis. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 65:377-380
- Tsunematsu Y, Ishikawa N, Wakana D, Goda Y, Noguchi H, Moriya H, Hotta K, Watanabe K (2013) Distinct mechanisms for spiro-carbon formation reveal biosynthetic pathway crosstalk. Nat Chem Biol 9:818-825
- Tsunematsu Y, Fukutomi M, Saruwatari T, Noguchi H, Hotta K, Tang Y, Watanabe K (2014) Elucidation of pseurotin biosynthetic pathway points to trans-acting C-methyltransferase: generation of chemical diversity. Angew Chem Int Ed 53:8475– 8479
- Weidner G, d'Enfert C, Koch A, Mol PC, Brakhage AA (1998) Development of a homologous transformation system for the human pathogenic fungus *Aspergillus fumigatus* based on the *pyrG* gene

encoding orotidine 5'-monophosphate decarboxylase. Curr Genet 33:378–385

- Wiemann P, Guo CJ, Palmer JM, Sekonyela R, Wang CC, Keller NP (2013) Prototype of an intertwined secondary-metabolite supercluster. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:17065–17070
- Xu Y, Yamamoto N, Janda KD (2004) Catalytic antibodies: hapten design strategies and screening methods. Bioorg Med Chem 12:5247–5268
- Yamamoto T, Tsunematsu Y, Noguchi H, Hotta K, Watanabe K (2015) Elucidation of pyranonigrin biosynthetic pathway reveals a mode of tetramic acid, fused  $\gamma$ -pyrone and exo-methylene formation. Org Lett 17:4992–4995
- Zou Y, Xu W, Tsunematsu Y, Tang MC, Watanabe K, Tang Y (2014) Methylation-dependent acyl transfer between polyketide synthase and nonribosomal peptide synthetase modules in fungal natural product biosynthesis. Org Lett 16:6390–6393